The Senate

Standing Committee on Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport

Airspace Bill 2006 [Provisions]

Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006 [Provisions]

February 2007

© Commonwealth of Australia

ISBN 978-0-642-71769-6

This document was prepared by the Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee, and printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Department of the Senate, Parliament House, Canberra.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE

Members

Senator the Hon. Bill Heffernan	LP, New South Wales	Chair
Senator Rachel Siewert	AG, Western Australia	Deputy Chair
Senator Jeannie Ferris	LP, South Australia	
Senator Anne McEwen	ALP, South Australia	
Senator Julian McGauran	LP, Victoria	
Senator Fiona Nash	NATS, New South Wales	
Senator Kerry O'Brien	ALP, Tasmania	
Senator Glenn Sterle	ALP, Western Australia	

Ms Jeanette Radcliffe, Secretary Ms Trish Carling, Senior Research Officer Ms Rosalind McMahon, Executive Assistant

PO Box 6100 Parliament House, Canberra Telephone: (02) 6277 3511 Facsimile (02) 6277 5811

Internet:www.aph.gov.au/senateEmail:rrat.sen@aph.gov.au

TABLE OF CONTENTS

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE	iii
ABBREVIATIONS	vii
CHAPTER 1	1
Introduction	1
Conduct of the inquiry	1
Acknowledgements	
Airspace Bill 2006	2
Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006	6
CHAPTER 2	9
The Legislation	9
Background	9
Key issues	
Committee comment	
APPENDIX 1	21
List of Submissions	21
APPENDIX 2	23
Witnesses who appeared before the Committee at Public Hearings	s23

ABBREVIATIONS

AAA	Australian Airports Association Limited
AAPS	Australian Airspace Policy Statement
AIPA	Australian and International Pilots Association
Airservices	Airservices Australia
ASAC	Australian Sport Aviation Confederation
ASFA	Aviation Safety Foundation Australasia
AOC	air operator's certificate
the Authority	Civil Aviation Safety Authority
CASA	Civil Aviation Safety Authority
СЕО	Chief Executive Officer
Defence	Department of Defence
Department	Department of Transport and Regional Services
DOTARS	Department of Transport and Regional Services
EM	Explanatory Memorandum
Government	Commonwealth Government
NAS	National Airspace System
OAR	Office of Airspace Regulation
Qantas	Qantas Airways Ltd
RAA	Recreational Aviation Australia Incorporated
RAAA	Regional Aviation Association of Australia
RFACA	Royal Federation of Aero Clubs of Australia
SCC	Standards Consultative Committee
VFR	visual flight rules

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Conduct of the inquiry

1.1 The Airspace Bill 2006 and the Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006 (the bills) were introduced into the House of Representatives on 29 November 2006 and were passed on 7 December 2006.

1.2 On 7 December 2006, the Senate Selection of Bills Committee referred the bills to the Senate Standing Committee on Rural, Regional Affairs and Transport (the committee) for inquiry and report by 26 February 2007.¹

1.3 The following argument was made to the Selection of Bills Committee regarding the referral of the bills:

The Bills are required to enable the transfer of the airspace regulatory functions from Airservices Australia to CASA. The Government intends that this transfer be complete by 01 July 2007, after which CASA will be expected to operate as a best practice airspace administrator and regulator in its own right. In order to meet this timetable, it is important that the passage of the Bills be completed in the next session and regulations be put in place.

Early and comprehensive discussion of the Bills in Committee will facilitate their passage through Parliament and enable the Government to meet the timeframe for the transfer of the airspace regulatory function and the establishment of the CASA Office of Airspace Regulation.²

1.4 The committee advertised the inquiry in *The Australian* on 12 December 2006. The committee also wrote to a number of interested parties and stakeholder groups inviting submissions. The committee received 10 submissions (see Appendix 1).

1.5 The committee held public hearings in Canberra on 31 January and 1 February 2007. It heard evidence from a number of witnesses, including representatives of the Australian Airports Association, the Australian and International Pilots Association and the Royal Federation of Aero Clubs of Australia. The committee also heard evidence from officers representing the Civil Aviation Safety Authority, the Australian Transport Safety Bureau, Airservices Australia and the Department of Transport and Regional Services. A full list of witnesses is provided at Appendix 2.

¹ *Journals of the Senate*, No. 126, Thursday, 7 December 2006.

² Selection of Bills Committee, Report No. 16 of 2006, 7 December 2006.

1.6 The transcripts of evidence provided to the committee and submissions are available on the Parliament's homepage at <u>http://www.aph.gov.au</u>

Acknowledgements

1.7 The committee appreciates the time and work of all those who provided written and oral submissions to the inquiry, particularly in light of the tight timeframe imposed. Their work has assisted the committee considerably in its inquiry.

Airspace Bill 2006

Purpose of the bill

1.8 The primary purpose of the Airspace Bill 2006 is to transfer the function of airspace regulation and administration from Airservices Australia (Airservices) to the Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA and the Authority).³ This will create a new function for CASA of civil airspace regulator and CASA will perform this function by establishing a dedicated administrative unit within the Authority – the Office of Airspace Regulation.

1.9 The Government anticipates that this transfer of function will strengthen Australia's planning and administration of airspace and address any perception of a conflict of interest between Airservices' industry and commercial focus and its airspace regulatory functions.

1.10 The bill requires that airspace change be underpinned by an Australian Airspace Policy Statement (AAPS), which will outline the Government's objectives for civil airspace administration, and provide assistance for industry in its investment decisions. The Ministerial Statement will be developed in consultation with the Defence Minister, the Department of Defence (Defence), CASA, Airservices and the Australian aviation community.

1.11 The bill will not affect powers and functions related to the management and use of airspace in the *Defence Act 1903* and the *Defence Special Undertakings Act 1952*. Defence is a key stakeholder in Australia's airspace arrangements and both Defence and CASA have undertaken to work together to ensure that any decisions made by each authority are closely coordinated. Airservices and Defence currently have a close working relationship as both organisations provide air traffic control services in Australian administered airspace, and the Government expects that Defence will work closely with CASA.

1.12 The transfer of the airspace regulatory function from Airservices to CASA forms part of a broader governance change for the Australian Government's civil aviation regulators. The Government is proposing to introduce a bill to further

2

³ Section based on information contained in the Explanatory Memorandum (EM), Airspace Bill 2006, p. 1 and Second Reading Speech to the Airspace Bill 2006, p. 1.

improve CASA's accountability and performance by making it subject to the *Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997* and by changing the employment arrangements, so that CASA staff are employed under the *Public Service Act 1999*. This new legislative framework acknowledges that CASA is a Government regulator rather than a commercial business.

Provisions of the bill

Part 1 – Preliminary

1.13 Part 1 provides background information regarding the bill, including the short title of the bill and the date of its commencement.

1.14 Clause 3 details the object of the bill as follows:

The object of this Bill is to ensure that Australian-administered airspace is administered and used safely, taking into account the following matters:

- (a) protection of the environment;
- (b) efficient use of that airspace;
- (c) equitable access to that airspace for all users of that airspace; and
- (d) national security.⁴

1.15 Clause 4 provides definitions of a number of terms including, Airservices, Australian-administered airspace, AAPS, CASA and Chicago Convention.

1.16 Clause 5 notes that the bill binds the Crown in all its capacities (i.e., the Commonwealth, the states and territories.

1.17 Clause 6 extends the bill to every external territory.

1.18 Clause 7 notes that the bill extends to acts, omissions, matters and things outside Australia. To illustrate this, the definition of Australian-administered airspace extends to airspace allocated to Australia by the International Civil Aviation Organization that extends beyond Australia's sovereign boundaries.

Part 2 – Australian Airspace Policy Statement

1.19 Clause 8, subclause 8 (1) establishes the requirement that the Minister must make an Australian Airspace Policy Statement.

1.20 Subclause 8 (2) states that the contents of the statement must:

(a) specify and describe the classifications to be used to administer Australian-administered airspace; and

⁴ Explanatory Memorandum, *Airspace Bill 2006*, p. 3.

(b) specify and describe the designations to be used for the purposes of restricting access to, or warning about access to, particular volumes of Australian-administered airspace; and

(c) describe the processes to be followed for changing the classifications or designations of particular volumes of Australian-administered airspace; and

(d) outline the Commonwealth Government's policy objectives for the administration and use of Australian-administered airspace; and

(e) include a strategy for the administration and use of Australianadministered airspace in the future.⁵

1.21 Clause 8 also provides that:

- the Minister may include any other matters the Minister thinks appropriate;
- the AAPS must be consistent with the Chicago Convention; and
- the AAPS will be a legislative instrument, but neither section 42 nor Part 6 of the *Legislative Instruments Act 2003* applies to the statement.⁶

1.22 Clause 9 requires the Minister to consult CASA, Airservices, Defence, and any other person or body the Minister thinks appropriate, when developing the statement.

1.23 Clause 10 requires that the AAPS be reviewed at least once every three years.

Part 3 – Airspace regulation

1.24 Clause 11 provides for regulations to be made under the Airspace Bill 2006 that provide CASA with both the powers and functions necessary to administer and regulate Australian-administered airspace. The Explanatory Memorandum (EM) to the Airspace bill states on page 6 that the majority of these regulations will be similar to the regulations currently contained in Air Services Regulations Part 2.

1.25 At the time that the Airspace Regulations are made, Part 2 of the Air Services Regulations will be repealed, and all instruments made under those regulations will be grandfathered in order to maintain continuity of the airspace architecture in Australian-administered airspace. Transitional provisions enabling regulations to be made to put this arrangement into effect are included in Schedule 3 of the related consequential amendments bill.

1.26 Clause 12 provides direction to CASA on how it is expected to perform the functions and powers outlined in the Airspace Regulations and requires that:

⁵ Airspace Bill 2006, p. 4.

⁶ EM, Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006, p. 5.

- CASA actively encourages the efficient use of Australian-administered airspace and equitable access to it and ensures that national security concerns are accounted for; and
- CASA take account of the capacity of Australian-administered airspace to accommodate changes in its use.⁷
- 1.27 Clause 13 specifies that CASA is expected to conduct regular reviews of:
 - the existing classifications of volumes of Australian-administered airspace to determine whether those classifications are appropriate;
 - the existing services and facilities provided by the providers of air navigation services in relation to particular volumes of Australianadministered airspace in order to determine whether those services and facilities are appropriate; and
 - Australian-administered airspace in general in order to identify risk factors and to determine whether there is safe and efficient use of that airspace and equitable access to that airspace for all users of that airspace.⁸

Part 4 – CASA advice on AAPS or airspace regulation

1.28 Clause 14 provides for the Minister to request advice from CASA, by writing to CASA, on a matter related to the AAPS or related to CASA's functions or powers under the regulations made under the Airspace bill.

1.29 Subclause 14 (3) provides for the Minister to, in writing, delegate the power to request information from CASA, to the Secretary of the Department of Transport and Regional Services (DOTARS or the Department).

Part 5 – Other matters

1.30 Clause 15 makes provision for the Governor-General to make regulations prescribing matters required or permitted by this bill to be prescribed or necessary or convenient to be prescribed for carrying out or giving effect to this bill.

⁷ EM, *Airspace Bill 2006*, p. 8.

⁸ EM, Airspace Bill 2006, p. 9.

Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006

Purpose of the bill

1.31 The purpose of the Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006 is to make a number of consequential amendments to the *Civil Aviation Act 1988*.⁹ These amendments are necessary to allow the effective introduction of the Airspace Bill 2006. Amendments to the *Civil Aviation Act 1988* ensure that airspace regulation is a clear and separate function for CASA and that the Authority acts consistently with the AAPS. The bill also grandfathers decisions made by Airservices under regulations to be transferred to CASA.

1.32 The bill also makes a number of technical amendments to the *Air Services Act 1995* and the *Civil Aviation Act 1988* to accommodate amendments made to the functions of Airservices by the *Civil Aviation Legislation Amendment Bill 2003*.

Provisions of the bill

Part 1 – Preliminary

1.33 Part 1 provides background information regarding the bill, including the short title of the bill the date of its commencement.

Schedule 1 – Consequential amendments

1.34 Item 1 inserts a new function into the list of CASA's functions in section 9 of the *Civil Aviation Act 1988* to make it clear that any functions conferred under the Airspace Bill 2006 are functions for the purposes of the *Civil Aviation Act 1988*.

1.35 Item 2 inserts a new section 11A into the *Civil Aviation Act 1988*, which will require CASA to:

- exercise its powers and functions consistently with the AAPS made under clause 8 of the Airspace Bill 2006 (unless doing so puts CASA in conflict with its obligation under clause 9A(1) of the *Civil Aviation Act* 1988 to regard the safety of air navigation as the most important consideration); and
- notify the Minister if it proposes to use its powers and functions under the Airspace Bill 2006 in a way that is inconsistent with the AAPS because of a conflict with CASA's obligation under section 9A(1) of the *Civil Aviation Act 1988*.

⁹ Section based on information contained in the EM, *Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006*, p. 1 and Second Reading Speech to the Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006, p. 1.

Schedule 2 – Technical amendments

1.36 Item 1 deletes reference to a number of subparagraphs at subsection 19(2) of the *Airservices Act 1995* to make this subsection consistent with amendments to section 8 of the *Air Services Act 1995* by the *Civil Aviation Legislation Amendment Act 2003*.

1.37 Items 2, 3, 4 and 5 also omit references in the *Air Services Act 1995* and the *Civil Aviation Act 1988* to certain provisions in the *Air Services Act 1995* which are now incorrect following the enactment of the *Civil Aviation Legislation Amendment Act 2003* and substitute references to the correct provisions.

Schedule 3 – Transitional provision

1.38 Item 1 relates to the transfer of airspace management functions from Airservices to CASA. It provides for regulations to be made to address matters of a transitional nature arising out of the repeal of those Air Services Regulations, including regulations which 'grandfather' instruments under the repealed Air Services Regulations made before that repeal.

CHAPTER 2

The Legislation

Background

2.1 The Airspace Bill 2006 and the Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006 have been introduced as part of the Government's proposed reforms to Australian airspace. These reforms were announced by the then Minister for Transport and Regional Services, the Hon. Warren Truss, in a Ministerial Statement released on 14 September 2006.

2.2 The Statement provided an outline of the Commonwealth Government's (the Government) strategy in relation to airspace reform and confirmed its commitment to completing the implementation of the National Airspace System (NAS) and the NAS reform program. The Government has decided that each further step of the NAS reform program will be reviewed and implemented through a process that includes a safety risk assessment, a cost-benefit analysis and further detailed consultation with the Australian aviation industry.¹

2.3 Under current arrangements, Airservices Australia (Airservices) is the agency responsible for air navigation services provided to aircraft in Australian-administered airspace. In particular volumes of that airspace, Airservices is also responsible for controlling the movement of aircraft to reconcile safety, efficiency, national security, environmental protection and equity of access for all airspace users.² In certain circumstances, this task can also be performed by the Department of Defence (Defence).³

2.4 Airservices also performs the function of airspace regulator and currently makes decisions regarding the type and level of service to be provided in particular levels of airspace and, as necessary, the appropriate level of control it should exercise over the operation of aircraft in that airspace.⁴

2.5 As part of its reform program, the Government has determined that it is not appropriate for Airservices to continue to perform the service provision role in addition to its regulatory role, particularly when decisions about the designation of air

¹ Mr Mike Mrdak, DOTARS, *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, p. 2.

² Submission 5, DOTARS, p. 2.

³ There are independent Acts and Regulations that regulate Defence aviation, including the designation of areas for military activities. The Government has indicated that there are no current plans to change these Acts and Regulations in relation to Defence authority, responsibility and accountability concerning airspace.

⁴ *Submission 5,* p. 2.

routes and the classification of airspace could have a profound impact on the costs borne by users.⁵

2.6 As a consequence, part of the broader strategy outlined in the Ministerial Statement includes changes to the governance arrangements in relation to airspace regulation, with the function of airspace regulation to be transferred from Airservices to the Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA). The Government's strategy also includes the establishment of the Office of Airspace Regulation (OAR) as a separate unit within CASA which will administer Australian airspace. The strategy also involves the employment of Defence personnel within the OAR in an attempt to ensure that civil and defence administration of airspace is streamlined.

2.7The Ministerial Statement identified three key legislative changes required to bring the Government's airspace strategy into effect:

- the creation of the basis for CASA to become the airspace regulator through legislation;
- the transfer of the regulation function from Airservices; and •
- bringing CASA under the umbrella of the Public Service Act 1999 and the Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997.⁶

2.8 The first two of these legislative changes are covered by the Airspace Bill 2006 and the Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006, with the transfer of the existing airspace regulations from Airservices to CASA intended to be completed by 1 July 2007.

2.9 The Government also proposes to introduce legislation to bring CASA under the umbrella of the Public Service Act 1999 and the Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997 later in 2007.

The legislation to establish CASA as the airspace administrator is intended to 2.10 provide mechanisms to manage the following key drivers of airspace change:

- shifts in airspace usage;
- consultation with key stakeholders regarding future implementation of • the NAS;
- new developments in technology and their effect on airspace efficiency and safety;
- global system requirements; and •
- shifts in relations between civil and military use and administration of . airspace.⁷

⁵ Submission 5, DOTARS, p. 2.

Submission 5, p. 4. 6

Key issues

2.11 Evidence provided to the committee indicated a significant level of support for the Government's proposed new regulatory structure. There appears to be considerable support for the transfer of powers and responsibility for the administration and regulation of Australian-administered airspace from Airservices to CASA.⁸ Some organisations however expressed concerns about specific issues, and sought clarification regarding some sections of the legislation.

Establishment of the Office of Airspace Regulation within CASA

2.12 The Regional Aviation Association of Australia (RAAA) indicated support for the transfer of responsibility for airspace regulation from Airservices to CASA – describing the move as 'logical and appropriate'.⁹ At the same time, however, the RAAA voiced some concern about CASA's capacity to fulfil its new role:

...in view of CASA's current resource management difficulties, the RAAA is not entirely convinced of CASA's ability to perform its new regulatory functions to the standard required.¹⁰

2.13 The Australian Sport Aviation Confederation (ASAC) also supported the proposed regulatory structure, but expressed the concern that matters 'of equity and efficiency did not lie easily with CASA as a regulator',¹¹ and that:

Many in the industry believe that CASA should remain the safety regulator, bound by the requirement to act on safety grounds only and not become involved in the essentially commercial issues of efficiency and access. This approach has been successful especially, but not limited to, such matters as the classification of operations and the applications of AOCs [air operator's certificate]. This concern, which limits CASA to consideration of safety matters only, should not be changed where it applies to the current safety regulatory functions carried out by CASA.¹²

2.14 Qantas Airways Ltd (Qantas) also welcomed the transfer of responsibility from Airservices to CASA, and argued that the bill and its associated instruments and processes 'present a unique opportunity to lay a strong foundation for the future policy, regulation and administration of Australian airspace',¹³ and would have a number of positive results including:

- 9 Submission 9, RAAA, p. 1.
- 10 Submission 9, p. 1.
- 11 Submission 1, ASAC, p. 2.
- 12 Submission 1, p. 2.
- 13 Submission 7, Qantas, p. 6.

⁷ Submission 5, DOTARS, p. 3.

⁸ For example, *Submission 1*, ASAC, *Submission 6*, AAA, *Submission 7*, Qantas and *Submission 8*, AIPA.

- streamlining of processes which currently involve regulation by three bodies (CASA, Airservices and DOTARS);
- consistency of regulation; and
- separation of policy making, commercial service and regulatory functions.¹⁴

2.15 The Australian Airports Association Limited (AAA) told the committee that they saw benefits in the separation of tasks, with Airservices providing the service rather than being both regulator and operator. The AAA argued that the establishment of the OAR, operating under the oversight of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of CASA would:

... strengthen Australia's planning and administration of airspace and negate any perceptions of a conflict of interest between Airservices in its role as both a commercial air navigation service provider and regulator at that level.¹⁵

2.16 During the public hearing, the committee questioned the AAA on the emphasis being placed on independence. Mr Ken Keech, CEO of the AAA, told the committee that:

You do not want too many fingers in the pie. CASA is a large organisation and if it can operate within the confines of CASA independently, so that there is no day-to-day, if you like, intrusion from other CASA people or CASA activities, it ought to get on with the job of regulating airspace.¹⁶

2.17 The committee sought an understanding of how CASA's new responsibilities in relation to the management of airspace would sit with its existing responsibilities in relation to air safety.

2.18 Departmental officers explained that CASA's overriding obligation to safety is set out in section 9A of the *Civil Aviation Act 1988*. In particular, subsection 9A(1) requires that, in exercising its powers and performing its functions, CASA must regard the safety of air navigation as the most important consideration.¹⁷

2.19 The amendment proposed in Item 2 of the Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006 requires that, subject to subsection 9A(1), CASA is to perform its functions in a manner consistent with the AAPS.

2.20 Mr Mrdak told the Committee that:

¹⁴ Submission 7, p. 6.

¹⁵ Mr John McArdle, AAA, *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, p. 25.

¹⁶ Mr Ken Keech AAA, Committee Hansard, 31 January 2007, p. 29.

¹⁷ Mr Mrdak, DOTARS, *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, p. 10.

... this legislation now makes airspace regulation one of CASA's functions, which it previously was not. But there is no change to section 9A(1). That has been in the CASA legislation and has always been CASA's overriding requirement.¹⁸

Airspace Regulations

2.21 Qantas qualified its support for the establishment of the OAR by adding that in order for the 'framework to function effectively, a number of aspects will require further clarification and attention'.¹⁹ The committee notes in this context that the regulations provided for in clause 11 of the Airspace bill, which will provide for and confer CASA's functions and powers in relation to the administration and regulation of airspace, are yet to be made. The EM to the Airspace bill states, at paragraph 16, that 'it is likely that the majority of these regulations will be in similar terms to the regulations currently contained in Air Services Regulations Part 2'²⁰.

2.22 The committee notes that subclause 11(8) provides that:

Regulations made for the purposes of subsection (1) may make provision for and in relation to CASA delegating functions or powers to another person.²¹

2.23 The committee expressed concern at the apparently wide delegation power conferred under subclause 11(8) and sought clarification regarding the possible interpretation of this provision. Mr Mrdak, Deputy Secretary, DOTARS, referred the committee to paragraph 26 of the explanatory memorandum which states:

This delegation is most likely when decisions are required in the management of Australian-administered airspace. For example, this could occur with respect to the designation and conditions of use of an air route or airway, and the giving of directions in connection with the use or operation of designated routes and airways.²²

2.24 While the committee appreciated the intention of subclause 11(8), it remained concerned that the subclause conferred the power to delegate a very wide range of powers to anyone who fits the all-embracing description of 'a person'. The committee asked the Department to ascertain whether it would be possible to be more specific with regard to the range of powers which could be delegated and to whom they might be delegated.²³

¹⁸ Mr Mike Mrdak, DOTARS, *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, p. 9.

¹⁹ Submission 7, Qantas, p. 6.

²⁰ EM, Airspace Bill 2006, p. 6.

EM, Airspace Bill 2006, p. 7.

EM, Airspace Bill 2006, p. 6.

²³ Senator K. O'Brien, Committee Hansard, 31 January 2007, p. 16.

2.25 The Department responded in writing following the hearing that:

Subsection 11(1) specifies that regulations may be made that make provision for and in relation to conferring powers and functions on CASA that are in connection with the administration and regulation of Australianadministered airspace. Any powers or functions that may become delegable under the Airspace Regulations will therefore be specific to the administration and regulation of Australian-administered airspace.

As examples, the Explanatory Memorandum notes that powers will need to be delegated by regulation from CASA in relation to the designation of air routes and airways, the conditions of use of a designated air route or airway, and the giving of directions in connection with the use or operation of a designated air route, airway. In practice, it is likely that regulations will be made which delegate these functions to Air Services Australia.²⁴

2.26 The Department's response also stated that 'if particular regulations in the Airspace Regulations make provision for a power to delegate a specific regulatory function, they will be subject to Parliamentary scrutiny and potentially disallowance'.²⁵

Australian Airspace Policy Statement

2.27 The requirement for the Minister to make an AAPS was seen as a positive development by submitters.²⁶ In particular, the Australian and International Pilots Association (AIPA) stated that:

... the requirement for an *Australian Airspace Policy Statement* under section 8 of the *Airspace Bill 2006* will provide much needed vision for airspace administration and regulation. This is in stark contrast to the previous two imposed iterations of airspace reform, in which a vacuum created by the lack of such strategic direction from Government was exploited in order to push personal, non-consensus agendas.²⁷

2.28 However, the committee noted that the legislation does not set a deadline for the completion of the AAPS and questioned Departmental officers about the absence of a finite time frame for the AAPS.

2.29 Departmental representatives acknowledged the AAPS as being a critical document and indicated that an interim AAPS was currently being developed by the Department, in consultation with Airservices, CASA and Defence. The committee

14

²⁴ Correspondence from Mr Mike Mrdak, Deputy Secretary, DOTARS, dated 8 February 2007 in response to Question Taken on Notice at 31 January 2007 hearing.

²⁵ Correspondence from Mr Mike Mrdak, Deputy Secretary, DOTARS, dated 8 February 2007 in response to Question Taken on Notice at 31 January 2007 hearing.

²⁶ For example, *Submission 1*, ASAC; *Submission 3*, RFACA; *Submission 6*, AAA and *Submission 9*, RAAA.

²⁷ Submission 8, AIPA, p. 1.

was told that the draft Statement would be subject to industry consultation as an interim and would be available for the Minister to consider issuing before 1 July 2007.

2.30 The committee was particularly concerned regarding the impact on CASA's ability to take on its new regulatory responsibilities in the event that the AAPS was not issued prior to the commencement of the Airspace bill.

Senator O'Brien – So, despite any implementation date of the legislation, CASA cannot take on that responsibility until the minister makes that statement. Is that what you are saying?

Mr Mrdak – It can certainly take on the responsibility because it has the statutory responsibility for airspace from that point, but the airspace policy statement is one of the key factors which CASA must have regard to in its decisions and its operations on airspace.

Senator O'Brien – So, if the Minister does not meet that time line, what happens?

Mr Mrdak – CASA would still assume the role of airspace regulator under the legislation without the guidance of the policy statement. But our intention is that there will be a policy statement by 1 July, although effectively it will be an interim one, pending a more detailed policy statement being developed in consultation with the industry.

Senator O'Brien – I am just curious that there is no time line in the legislation. It just says the Minister must make a statement, the Australian airspace policy statement. I am not sure how you enforce a requirement that does not have a time line.

Mr Mrdak – I think much of the effectiveness of the regime we are putting in place is around the guidance provided by the policy statement. So we have always worked on the assumption that there will be a policy statement in effective by the time the legislation takes effect.

Senator O'Brien – ... But, if for some reason that did not happen, I just want to understand what the meaning of the legislation is. I think you are telling us that CASA would assume that responsibility without the ministerial guidance.

Mr Mrdak – That is right.²⁸

2.31 The committee also noted that the timely completion of the AAPS is critical to CASA's ability to establish and staff the OAR. The central importance of the AAPS was highlighted during questioning regarding budget considerations and resource allocated for the OAR. In response to a question regarding proposed resources for the OAR, Mr Bruce Byron, CEO of CASA, told the committee that while CASA had a 'rough understanding of the number of people we need, ... we need to see the

¹⁵

²⁸ Committee Hansard, 31 January 2007, p. 4.

government's airspace plan to get a full understanding of what we need to do to start with.' 29

Consultation

2.32 The committee received evidence about the need for the Minister to consult widely with the aviation industry on the development of the AAPS and prior to any further implementation of the NAS.

2.33 The RAAA stressed the importance of the requirement for the Minister to consult with both Airservices and CASA prior to making the AAPS and added that it 'would like to think that those bodies would also consult with Industry prior to giving advice to the Minister'.³⁰

2.34 The Royal Federation of Aero Clubs of Australia (RFACA) also raised the issue of consultation with industry, and argued that clause 9:

... needs to be amended to require the Minister to consult with the Aviation Industry before formulating the Airspace policy Statement [sic]. As the industry is the sector that will have to work in the airspace, its views must be ascertained and taken into account. Lack of consultation, or consultation with noisy but unrepresentative sections of the industry lead only to bad policy that will not be accepted and will not work.³¹

2.35 Qantas noted that any 'consultation involving parties other than CASA and Airservices is at the Minister's discretion'³² and stressed the need to develop a formal framework for interaction between stakeholders and argued that:

Such a framework, which we assume would be led by CASA, would serve as the basis for a balanced decision-making process. Provision for a dispute resolution or arbitration mechanism, possibly with the services of an independent expert, may also be appropriate.³³

While there is no existing group under current arrangements that could fulfil this role, the current Standards Consultative Committee (SCC) appears to provide a successful model in terms of industry participation, extensive consultation and producing relevant outcomes.³⁴

34 Submission 7, p. 7.

²⁹ Mr Bruce Byron, CASA, *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, p. 12.

³⁰ Submission 9, RAAA, p. 1.

³¹ Submission 3, RFACA, p. 1.

³² *Submission 7,* Qantas, p. 6.

³³ Submission 7, p. 7.

Dispute resolution

2.36 Several submitters argued that in addition to the need for a formal consultation process, there is also a need for the legislation to include a mechanism for dispute resolution.

2.37 The AIPA stated that:

AIPA's preference for resolving disputes on airspace classification involves having a default or benchmark airspace classification with the least regulation and procedural requirements (i.e. Class G) and then adjusting this minimum classification when risk levels and operational priorities have been demonstrated to require it. AIPA highlights however, that the change management process determining risk and prioritising operations must be clearly defined within the proposed *Airspace Policy Statement*.³⁵

2.38 The RAAA also argued that the Airspace bill lacks a formal procedure for resolving any conflict which may arise between the Minister's view and the views of the major stakeholders – including CASA, Airservices and industry – particularly in relation to matters of safety. The RAAA suggested that:

Such a procedure must be formalised, inexpensive and transparent if we are to prevent the possibility of a repetition of the National Airspace System debacle of recent years.³⁶

Cost recovery

2.39 The committee received evidence which raised concerns about the issue of cost recovery and the potential impact on industry.³⁷

2.40 The Aviation Safety Foundation Australasia (ASFA) asked the committee to accept that 'airspace regulation will, once the Bill becomes law, be managed by CASA, in conjunction with the Department of Defence, in the national interest^{'38}, and that:

As such, the proposed recovery costs of CASA performing the airspace regulation and administration should only be partially recovered from the civil aviation industry. As the proposed Airspace Bill 2006 is predicated on safety of air navigation being the most important consideration, then a risk assessment on the impost of any charges on industry should become an integral part of the decision making process.³⁹

³⁵ Submission 8, AIPA, p. 2.

³⁶ Submission 9, RAAA, p. 1.

³⁷ For example, *Submission 2*, ASFA; *Submission 8*, AIPA; and *Submission 10*, RAA.

³⁸ Submission 2, ASFA, p. 2.

³⁹ *Submission 2*, p. 3.

2.41 Recreational Aviation Australia (RAA) also supported the partial recovery of the costs of airspace regulation and administration from the civil aviation industry. However, RAA argue 'that for VFR [visual flight rules] operations outside controlled airspace the status quo should remain with no cost impost on those operations'.⁴⁰

2.42 The RFACA also expressed concern that the changes to airspace administration may result in extra charges going through to Airservices, an increase in air navigation charges and higher costs to the industry.⁴¹

2.43 In evidence, Mr Mike Mrdak, Deputy Secretary of DOTARS gave the committee an overview of the budget arrangements being put in place for the establishment of the OAR. Mr Mrdak indicated that:

- the government has made \$2 million available to CASA this financial year for the establishment of the OAR;
- the \$2 million is being budget funded and will not be a direct cost to the industry and will allow the OAR to be established and staff trained by 1 July 2007;
- funding of the OAR beyond 1 July 2007 will be done through a resourcing agreement between CASA and Airservices for at least the first three years (subject to a review);
- it is intended that CASA's costs in operating the OAR will be recovered from Airservices ; and
- the Government has allocated \$4.2 million to DOTARS in the forward estimates for 2007-08 (for the development of the Airspace Policy Statement and for its ongoing policy role in relation to airspace).⁴²

Committee comment

2.44 The committee has considered the provisions of the Airspace Bill 2006 and the Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006 and acknowledges that these bills have been introduced as part of the Government's ongoing reforms to the regulation of Australian airspace.

2.45 The committee's inquiry has highlighted the significance of the Minister's Australian Airspace Policy Statement (AAPS) in providing policy guidance to CASA in the exercise of its functions and powers in relation to airspace regulation. The committee notes that processes are in train to develop an interim AAPS and that there is an expectation that the Minister will make this interim AAPS by 1 July 2007. The committee also notes that there is an expectation that this interim statement will be reviewed and replaced by a more detailed AAPS after 1 July 2007.

⁴⁰ Submission 10, RAA, p. 1.

⁴¹ Mr Graham King, RFACA, *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, p. 21.

⁴² Mr Mike Mrdak, DOTARS, *Committee Hansard*, 31 January 2007, p. 5.

2.46 The Committee is of the opinion that the timely release of the AAPS is central to the smooth transfer of the function of airspace regulation from Airservices Australia to the Civil Aviation Safety Authority. While noting the expectation that an interim statement will be in place at the point that the responsibility for management of Australian airspace is transferred from Airservices to CASA, the committee also believes it is desirable that the Parliament and the Australian aviation industry have some confidence that this will be the case. The committee therefore recommends that the Airspace bill be amended to provide that the Minister must make the AAPS within a specified timeframe. The committee notes that subclause 8(5) of the bill provides that the AAPS will be a legislative instrument and must be tabled as required by the *Legislative Instruments Act 2003*, but it is not disallowable and is not sun-settable. In addition to this tabling requirement, the committee considers it highly desirable that the statement be published in a readily accessible form.

2.47 The committee's inquiry has also highlighted the importance of consultation with key stakeholders in the development of the AAPS. The Committee notes that in announcing these reforms, Minister Truss acknowledged that regardless of individual views regarding the NAS reforms, industry was keen to be involved in the policy development process and that this would require 'more genuine consultation on future reforms'.⁴³

2.48 The Minister also stated that future reforms will be subject to the results of closer consultation with stakeholders and take account of the impact of upcoming technological developments, adding that:

The application of better analysis and consultation should reduce unproductive controversy. Better analysis and consultation on reforms may ultimately see future reforms put in place sooner than otherwise.⁴⁴

2.49 The committee considers that this commitment to industry consultation would be given more effective legislative expression if the Airspace bill were amended to require the Minister to consult with the Australian aviation industry, rather than to leave this to Ministerial discretion.

2.50 The committee remains concerned at the apparent breadth of the delegation power conferred under subclause 11(8) of the Airspace bill and recommends that limits be set in relation to the types of powers that may be delegated and the categories of people to whom these powers may be delegated.

Recommendation 1

2.51 The Committee recommends that clause 8 of the Airspace Bill 2006 be amended to require that a statement made under subclause 8(1) must be made

⁴³ Ministerial Statement on Australian Airspace, *Better Australian Airspace Management,* The Hon. Warren Truss, Minister for Transport and Regional Services, 14 September 2006, p. 2.

⁴⁴ Ministerial Statement on Australian Airspace, *Better Australian Airspace Management*, The Hon. Warren Truss, Minister for Transport and Regional Services, 14 September 2006, p. 3.

not later than 1 July 2007 and that such a statement must be published in a readily accessible form in addition to the tabling requirements which apply pursuant to subclause 8(5) of the bill.

Recommendation 2

2.52 The Committee recommends that subclause 9(1) of the Airspace Bill 2006 be amended to require the Minister to consult with key representatives of the Australian aviation industry, as selected by the Minister, before making the Australian Airspace Policy Statement.

Recommendation 3

2.53 The Committee recommends that subclause 11(8) of the Airspace Bill 2006 be amended to either specify the range of powers and functions which can be delegated or the category of person to whom such powers and functions can be delegated.

Recommendation 4

2.54 The committee recommends that, subject to the preceding recommendations, the Senate pass the Airspace Bill 2006 and the Airspace (Consequentials and Other Measures) Bill 2006.

Senator the Hon. Bill Heffernan Chair

APPENDIX 1

List of Submissions

- 1. Australian Sport Aviation Confederation (NSW)
- 2. Aviation Safety Foundation Australasia (VIC)
- 3. The Royal Federation of Aero Clubs of Australia (QLD)
- 4. Mr G.A. (Peter) Lloyd (NSW)
- 5. Department of Transport and Regional Services (ACT)
- 6. Australian Airports Association Limited (VIC)
- 7. Qantas Airways Limited (NSW)
- 8. Australian and International Pilots Association (NSW)
- 9. Regional Aviation Association of Australia (ACT)
- **10.** Recreational Aviation Australia Inc.

APPENDIX 2

Witnesses who appeared before the Committee at Public Hearings

Wednesday, 31 January 2007 Parliament House CANBERRA

Department of Transport and Regional Services Mr Mike Mrdak, Deputy Secretary

Civil Aviation Safety Authority

Mr Bruce Byron, Chief Executive Officer Mr Bruce Gemmell, Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Operations Mr Shane Carmody, Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Strategy and Support

Airservices Australia

Mr Greg Russell, Chief Executive Officer

Australian Transport Safety Bureau

Mr Kym Bills, Executive Director

The Royal Federation of Aero Clubs of Australia Mr Graham King, Vice-President

Australian Airports Association Limited

Mr Kenneth Keech, Chief Executive Officer Mr John McArdle, National Chairman

Australian and International Pilots Association

Mr Guy Maclean, Government and Regulatory Affairs Adviser Mr Peter Somerville, General Manager Mr David Holt, Airspace Representative

Qantas Airways Ltd

Captain Murray Warfield, General Manager, Regulatory and Industry Affairs

Thursday 1 February 2007 Parliament House CANBERRA

Department of Transport and Regional Services

Mr Mike Mrdak, Deputy Secretary

Civil Aviation Safety Authority

Mr Bruce Byron, Chief Executive Officer Mr Shane Carmody, Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Strategy and Support Mr Bruce Gemmell, Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Operations